



Distr.: General 8 February 2018

Original: English

Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol

Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol on its thirteenth session, held in Bonn from 6 to 18 November 2017

Part one: Proceedings

Contents

		Faragrapus	rage
I.	Opening of the session (Agenda item 1)	1–2	4
II.	Organizational matters (Agenda item 2)	3–19	4
	A. Adoption of the agenda	3–4	4
	B. Election of additional officers	5	5
	C. Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies	6–9	5
	D. Approval of the report on credentials	10–11	6
	E. Status of ratification of the Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol	12–16	6
	F. Attendance	17–18	7
	G. Documentation	19	7
III.	Reports of the subsidiary bodies (Agenda item 3)	20–23	7
	A. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice	20–21	7
	B. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation	22–23	7
IV.	Matters relating to the clean development mechanism (Agenda item 4)	24–30	8
V.	Matters relating to joint implementation (Agenda item 5)	31–36	9
VI.	Report of the Compliance Committee (Agenda item 6)	37–41	9
VII.	Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund (Agenda item 7)	42–49	10

GE.18-01426(E)







FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/7

	A. Report of the Adaptation Fund Board	42–47	10
	B. Third review of the Adaptation Fund	48–49	1
VIII.	Report on the high-level ministerial round table on increased ambition of Kyoto Protocol commitments (Agenda item 8)	50–52	1:
IX.	Reporting from and review of Parties included in Annex I		
	(Agenda item 9)	53–55	1
	A. National communications	53–54	1
	B. Annual compilation and accounting report for the second commitment period for Annex B Parties under the Kyoto Protocol	55	1
X.	Capacity-building under the Kyoto Protocol (Agenda item 10)	56–57	1
XI.	Matters relating to: (Agenda item 11)	58–59	1
	A. Article 2, paragraph 3, of the Kyoto Protocol		1
	B. Article 3, paragraph 14, of the Kyoto Protocol	58–59	1
XII.	Other matters referred to the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol by the subsidiary bodies (Agenda item 12)	60	1
XIII.	Administrative, financial and institutional matters	00	1
AIII.	(Agenda item 13)	61–64	1
	A. Audit report and financial statements for 2016		1
	B. Budget performance for the biennium 2016–2017	61–62	1
	C. Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019	63-64	1
XIV.	High-level segment (Agenda item 14)		1
XV.	Other matters (Agenda item 15)	65	1
XVI.	Conclusion of the session (Agenda item 16)	66–70	1
	A. Adoption of the draft report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol on its thirteenth session	68	1
	B. Closure of the session	69–70	1
Annex			
	Parties to the Kyoto Protocol, Parties to the Convention that are observers to the Kyoto and observer States attending the thirteenth session of the Conference of the Parties se meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol	rving as the	1

Part two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol at its thirteenth session

Decisions adopted by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol

FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/7/Add.1

Decisions	
1/CMP.13	Report of the Adaptation Fund Board
2/CMP.13	Third review of the Adaptation Fund
3/CMP.13	Guidance relating to the clean development mechanism
4/CMP.13	Fourth review of the implementation of the framework for capacity-building in countries with economies in transition under the Kyoto Protocol
5/CMP.13	Administrative, financial and institutional matters
6/CMP.13	Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019
7/CMP.13	Budget for the international transaction log and a methodology for the collection of its fees for the biennium 2018–2019
Resolution	
1/CMP.13	Expression of gratitude to the Government of the Federal Republic of Germany and the people of the city of Bonn

I. Opening of the session

(Agenda item 1)

- 1. The thirteenth session of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol (CMP), convened pursuant to Article 13, paragraph 6, of the Kyoto Protocol, was opened at the United Nations Climate Change Conference in Bonn, Germany, on 6 November 2017, by Mr. Frank Bainimarama, President of CMP 13.¹
- 2. A joint plenary meeting of the Conference of the Parties (COP), the CMP and the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (CMA) was held to hear opening statements.²

II. Organizational matters

(Agenda item 2)

A. Adoption of the agenda

(Agenda sub-item 2(a))

- 3. At its 1st meeting,³ on 6 November, the CMP considered a note by the Executive Secretary containing the provisional agenda and annotations.⁴ The provisional agenda was prepared in agreement with the President of CMP 12, after consultation with the Bureau, taking into consideration the views expressed by the members of the Bureau as well as by Parties⁵ at the forty-sixth session of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI).
- 4. Following the proposal of the President of CMP 13, the CMP adopted the agenda as follows:
 - 1. Opening of the session.
 - 2. Organizational matters:
 - (a) Adoption of the agenda;
 - (b) Election of additional officers;
 - (c) Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies;
 - (d) Approval of the report on credentials;
 - (e) Status of ratification of the Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol.
 - 3. Reports of the subsidiary bodies:
 - (a) Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice;
 - (b) Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation.
 - 4. Matters relating to the clean development mechanism.
 - 5. Matters relating to joint implementation.
 - 6. Report of the Compliance Committee.

OMP 13 was held in conjunction with the twenty-third session of the Conference of the Parties (COP) and the second part of the first session of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (CMA). The proceedings of the COP and the CMA are contained in separate reports (FCCC/CP/2017/11 and FCCC/PA/CMA/2017/2, respectively). References to statements and an address of welcome made at the opening of the conference are contained in the report of the COP.

² See document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraph 38.

³ Meetings of the CMP referred to in this report are plenary meetings.

⁴ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/1.

⁵ See document FCCC/SBI/2017/7, paragraph 104.

- 7. Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund:
 - (a) Report of the Adaptation Fund Board;
 - (b) Third review of the Adaptation Fund.
- 8. Report on the high-level ministerial round table on increased ambition of Kyoto Protocol commitments.
- 9. Reporting from and review of Parties included in Annex I:6
 - (a) National communications;
 - (b) Annual compilation and accounting report for the second commitment period for Annex B Parties under the Kyoto Protocol.
- 10. Capacity-building under the Kyoto Protocol.
- 11. Matters relating to:
 - (a) Article 2, paragraph 3, of the Kyoto Protocol;
 - (b) Article 3, paragraph 14, of the Kyoto Protocol.
- 12. Other matters referred to the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol by the subsidiary bodies.
- 13. Administrative, financial and institutional matters:
 - (a) Audit report and financial statements for 2016;
 - (b) Budget performance for the biennium 2016–2017;
 - (c) Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019.
- 14. High-level segment:
 - (a) Statements by Parties;
 - (b) Statements by observer organizations.
- 15. Other matters.
- 16. Conclusion of the session:
 - (a) Adoption of the draft report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol on its thirteenth session;
 - (b) Closure of the session.

B. Election of additional officers

(Agenda sub-item 2(b))

5. The CMP considered this agenda sub-item at its 1st meeting and at its 13th meeting, on 18 November. No election of additional officers was required.⁷

C. Organization of work, including for the sessions of the subsidiary bodies

(Agenda sub-item 2(c))

6. At the 1st meeting, the President referred the CMP to the annotations to the provisional agenda⁸ and proposed that the CMP follow the organization of work that was agreed by the COP.⁹

⁶ The term "Party included in Annex I" is defined in Article 1, paragraph 7, of the Kyoto Protocol.

See document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraph 17, for the list of members of the Bureau of COP 23, CMP 13 and CMA 1.2.

⁸ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/1.

7. On a proposal by the President, the CMP decided to refer the following agenda items to the subsidiary bodies:

Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice

Item 11(a) Matters relating to Article 2, paragraph 3, of the Kyoto Protocol

Subsidiary Body for Implementation

- Item 7(b) Third review of the Adaptation Fund
- Item 9(a) National communications
- Item 10 Capacity-building under the Kyoto Protocol
- Item 11(b) Matters relating to Article 3, paragraph 14, of the Kyoto Protocol
- Item 13(a) Audit report and financial statements for 2016
- Item 13(b) Budget performance for the biennium 2016–2017
- Item 13(c) Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019
- 8. The CMP agreed to proceed on the basis of the proposals made by the President.
- 9. The President convened an informal stocktaking plenary on 11 November to review progress made during the first week of the conference and to hear views of Parties on how to advance the work in the second week in order to reach a successful outcome.¹⁰

D. Approval of the report on credentials

(Agenda sub-item 2(d))

- 10. At the 11th meeting, on 17 November, the President referred to the report on credentials, 11 which indicates that the Bureau, in accordance with rule 20 of the draft rules of procedure being applied, examined and approved the credentials of the representatives of Parties.
- 11. At the same meeting, on the basis of the report of the Bureau and additional credentials provided, the CMP accepted the credentials of Parties attending the session. 12

E. Status of ratification of the Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol (Agenda sub-item 2(e))

- 12. At the 1st meeting, the secretariat recalled that, on 8 December 2012, CMP 8 adopted the Doha Amendment to the Kyoto Protocol¹³ in accordance with Articles 20 and 21 of the Kyoto Protocol. On the basis of the current number of Parties to the Kyoto Protocol (192), 144 instruments of acceptance are required in order for the Doha Amendment to enter into force. The secretariat noted that, as at 6 November 2017, the Depositary had received instruments of acceptance of the Doha Amendment from 84 Parties.
- 13. The President informed the CMP that, on 19 September 2017, Fiji deposited its instrument of acceptance of the Doha Amendment. He urged Parties to the Kyoto Protocol intending to ratify the Doha Amendment to expedite their domestic procedures to deposit their instruments of acceptance with the Depositary as soon as possible. On a proposal by the President, the CMP took note of the status of ratification of the Doha Amendment as at 6 November 2017.

⁹ FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraphs 19 and 25–30.

¹⁰ See https://unfccc.cloud.streamworld.de/webcast/informal-stocktaking-plenary-by-the-president.

¹¹ FCCC/CP/2017/10–FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/7–FCCC/PA/CMA/2017/2.

For the list of additional credentials presented after the issuance of the credentials report, see document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraph 46.

¹³ Decision 1/CMP.8.

- 14. At the 12th meeting, on 18 November, the President informed the CMP that the Depository had received seven additional instruments of acceptance of the Doha Amendment, from Belgium, Finland, Germany, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden and United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. He congratulated those Parties for accepting the Doha Amendment, and informed the CMP that 54 more instruments are required in order for the Doha Amendment to enter into force.
- 15. On a proposal by the President, the CMP took note of the updated status of ratification of the Doha Amendment.
- 16. At the joint 15th meeting of the COP, 14th meeting of the CMP and 19th meeting of the CMA, held on 18 November to hear closing statements, Australia stated that the Doha Amendment and its related implementing decisions allow the continued operation of the Kyoto Protocol between the first and the second commitment periods pending the amendment's entry into force. Australia also stated that it had accepted the Doha Amendment on the basis that no further guidance from the CMP was required to allow Parties to fully commence the implementation of the amendment and the second commitment period.

F. Attendance

- 17. The session in Bonn was attended by representatives of 188 Parties to the Kyoto Protocol, representatives of five Parties to the Convention that are observers to the Kyoto Protocol and representatives of one observer State, as listed in the annex.¹⁴
- 18. According to decision 36/CMP.1, the admission of organizations as observers as decided by the COP also applies to the CMP. Observer organizations newly admitted to the sessions of the COP, the CMP and the CMA are listed in document FCCC/CP/2017/2.¹⁵

G. Documentation

19. The documents that were before CMP 13 are available on the UNFCCC website. 16

III. Reports of the subsidiary bodies

(Agenda item 3)

A. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice (Agenda sub-item 3(a))

- 20. At the 11^{th} meeting, the Chair of the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice (SBSTA), Mr. Carlos Fuller (Belize), introduced the draft report on SBSTA 47^{17} and gave an oral report on the results of SBSTA 46 and 47.
- 21. At the same meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMP took note of the report on SBSTA 46,¹⁸ the draft report on SBSTA 47 and the oral report provided by the Chair of the SBSTA. The President expressed his appreciation to Mr. Fuller for his skilful guidance of the work of the SBSTA over the past two years.

For the attendance of representatives of organizations in the United Nations system, intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations, see document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraph 48.

¹⁵ For the complete proceedings related to the COP agenda sub-item on the admission of organizations as observers, see document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraph 18.

http://unfccc.int/meetings/bonn_nov_2017/session/10377/php/view/documents.php#c_and http://unfccc.int/meetings/bonn_nov_2017/in-session/items/10494.php.

¹⁷ FCCC/SBSTA/2017/L.18.

¹⁸ FCCC/SBSTA/2017/4 and Add.1.

B. Report of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation

(Agenda sub-item 3(b))

- 22. At the 11th meeting, the Chair of the SBI, Mr. Tomasz Chruszczow (Poland), introduced the draft report on SBI 47¹⁹ and gave an oral report on the results of SBI 46 and 47.
- 23. On a proposal by the President, the CMP took note of the report on SBI 46,²⁰ the draft report on SBI 47 and the oral report provided by the Chair of the SBI. The President expressed his appreciation to Mr. Chruszczow for his skilful guidance of the work of the SBI over the past two years.

IV. Matters relating to the clean development mechanism

(Agenda item 4)

- 24. At the 3rd meeting, on 7 November, the President referred to the annual report to the CMP of the Executive Board of the clean development mechanism (CDM),²¹ which covers its activities in the period from 18 September 2016 to 22 September 2017.
- 25. At the invitation of the President, the Chair of the CDM Executive Board, Mr. Frank Wolke (Germany), reported to the CMP on the work of the board. He drew attention to the recommendation of the CDM Executive Board that the CMP provide guidance to the board on the functioning of the CDM beyond the end of the second commitment period. The President thanked all the members and alternate members of the CDM Executive Board for their hard work and acknowledged the achievements made in the past year.
- 26. On a proposal by the President, the CMP established a contact group on this matter co-chaired by Ms. Karoliina Anttonen (Finland) and Mr. Takalani Rambau (South Africa).
- 27. At the same meeting, a statement was made by a representative of business and industry non-governmental organizations (NGOs),
- 28. At its 11th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMP adopted decision 3/CMP.13, entitled "Guidance relating to the clean development mechanism". The President thanked Ms. Anttonen and Mr. Rambau for their hard work.
- 29. At the 13th meeting, the President noted that nominations to the CDM Executive Board were outstanding and urged the constituency concerned to continue its consultations and submit the outstanding nominations to the Executive Secretary as soon as possible and by 31 January 2018 at the latest. Once the nominations have been received by the Executive Secretary, the alternate members will be deemed elected at CMP 13 in accordance with established practice.
- 30. The CMP, on a proposal by the President, elected the following members and alternate members to the CDM Executive Board:²²

Executive Board of the clean development mechanism

	Member	Alternate
Eastern European States	Ms. Diana Harutyunan (Armenia)	Ms. Natalia Kushko (Ukraine)
Small island developing States	Mr. Amjad Abdulla (Maldives)	Mr. Omar Yuvual Alcock (Jamaica)
Parties included in Annex I	Mr. Piotr Dombrowicki (Poland)	Mr. Frank Wolke (Germany)

¹⁹ FCCC/SBI/2017/L.19.

²⁰ FCCC/SBI/2017/7 and Add.1 and 2.

²¹ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/5.

The latest list of members and alternate members is available at http://unfccc.int/files/bodies/election and membership/application/pdf/nominations received.pdf.

Parties not included in Annex I

Mr. Maosheg Duan (China)

Mr. Benjamin S. Karmorh

(Liberia)

V. Matters relating to joint implementation

(Agenda item 5)

- 31. At the 3rd meeting, the President referred to the annual report to the CMP of the Joint Implementation Supervisory Committee (JISC),²³ which covers its activities in the period from 22 September 2016 to 25 August 2017.
- 32. At the invitation of the President, the Vice-Chair of the JISC, Ms. Gherghita Nicodim (Romania), reported on the progress of the work of the JISC. She highlighted that the recommendations of the JISC to the CMP relate to its reflections on, and analysis of, the experience of and lessons learned from joint implementation. The President thanked all the members and alternate members of the JISC for their work and noted the potential of joint implementation to support the successful delivery of cooperative climate action.
- 33. The President recalled that COP 21 had decided that experience gained with and lessons learned from existing mechanisms should be taken into account in the development of the mechanism referred to in Article 6, paragraph 4, of the Paris Agreement.²⁴ He also recalled that CMP 12 had already noted that the lessons learned had been captured in document FCCC/SBI/2016/L.8.²⁵
- 34. At the same meeting, a statement was made by a representative of business and industry NGOs.
- 35. At the 13th meeting, the President noted that nominations to the JISC were outstanding and urged constituencies to continue their consultations and submit the outstanding nominations to the Executive Secretary as soon as possible and by 31 January 2018 at the latest. Once the nominations have been received by the Executive Secretary, the members and alternate members will be deemed elected at CMP 13 in accordance with established practice.
- 36. The CMP, on a proposal by the President, elected the following members and alternate members of the JISC:²⁶

Joint Implementation Supervisory Committee

	Member	Alternate
Small island developing States	Mr. Albert Williams (Vanuatu)	Mr. Derrick Oderson (Barbados)
Parties included in Annex I	Ms. Vanessa Leonardi (Italy)	Mr. Konrad Raschke- Kessler (Germany)
Parties included in Annex I with economies in transition		Ms. Iryna Rudzko (Belarus)

VI. Report of the Compliance Committee

(Agenda item 6)

37. At the 3rd meeting, the President referred to the annual report to the CMP of the Compliance Committee,²⁷ which covers its activities in the period from 10 September 2016 to 8 September 2017.

²³ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/2.

²⁴ Decision 1/CP.21, paragraph 37(f).

²⁵ Decision 5/CMP.12, paragraph 3.

²⁶ As footnote 22 above.

- 38. At the invitation of the President, the Co-Chairperson of the plenary of the Compliance Committee, Mr. Gerhard Loibl (Austria), provided an overview of the annual report to the CMP. The President thanked all the members and alternate members of the Compliance Committee for their hard work over the past year.
- 39. At the same meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMP took note of the report of the Compliance Committee and of the final compilation and accounting report for Ukraine for the first commitment period of the Kyoto Protocol.²⁸ Also on a proposal by the President, the CMP expressed its gratitude to the Parties that made contributions to the Trust Fund for Supplementary Activities to support the work of the Compliance Committee, and invited Parties to make such contributions in the biennium 2018–2019.
- 40. At the 13th meeting, the President noted that nominations to the Compliance Committee were outstanding and urged constituencies to continue their consultations and submit the outstanding nominations to the Executive Secretary as soon as possible and by 31 January 2018 at the latest. Once the nominations have been received by the Executive Secretary, the members and alternate members will be deemed elected at CMP 13 in accordance with established practice.
- 41. The CMP, on a proposal by the President, elected the following members and alternate members of the Compliance Committee:²⁹

Compliance Committee - facilitative branch

	Member	Alternate
African States	Ms. Veronica Jakarasi (Zimbabwe)	Mr. Bubu Jallow (Gambia)
Asia-Pacific States	Mr. Abdullah Al-Ghamdi (Saudi Arabia)	Mr. Gao Xiang (China)
Parties included in Annex I	Mr. Kunihiko Shimada (Japan)	Ms. Deciana Speckmann (Australia)
Parties not included in Annex I	Mr. Mamadou Diobe Gueye (Senegal)	

Compliance Committee - enforcement branch

	Member	Alternate
African States	Mr. Yao Osafo (Ghana)	Ms. Marilia Telma Antonio Manjate (Mozambique)
Parties included in Annex I	Mr. Milan Zvara (Slovakia)	Mr. Jacob Werksman (European Union)
Parties not included in Annex I	Mr. Ba Moussa (Mauritania)	

VII. Matters relating to the Adaptation Fund

(Agenda item 7)

A. Report of the Adaptation Fund Board

(Agenda sub-item 7(a))

²⁷ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/4.

²⁸ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/CAR/UKR.

²⁹ As footnote 22 above.

- 42. At the 3rd meeting, the President referred to the report to the CMP of the Adaptation Fund Board,³⁰ which covers its activities in the period from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.
- 43. At the invitation of the President, the Vice-Chair of the Adaptation Fund Board, Mr. Victor Vinas (Dominican Republic), highlighted the results achieved during the last reporting period. The President thanked all the members and alternate members of the Adaptation Fund Board for their hard work.
- 44. On a proposal by the President, the CMP established a contact group on this matter co-chaired by Ms. Patience Damptey (Ghana) and Ms. Gemma O'Reilly (Ireland).
- 45. At the 13th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMP adopted decision 1/CMP.13, entitled "Report of the Adaptation Fund Board". The President thanked Ms. Damptey and Ms. O'Reilly for their hard work.
- 46. At the same meeting, the President noted that nominations to the Adaptation Fund Board were outstanding and urged constituencies to continue their consultations and submit the outstanding nominations to the Executive Secretary as soon as possible and by 31 January 2018 at the latest. Once the nominations have been received by the Executive Secretary, the members and alternate members will be deemed elected at CMP 13 in accordance with established practice.
- 47. On a proposal by the President, the CMP elected the following members and alternate members of the Adaptation Fund Board:³¹

Adaptation Fund Board

	Member	Alternate
African States	Mr. David Kaluba (Zambia)	Mr. Admasu Nebede (Ethiopia)
Asia-Pacific States	Mr. Mirza Shawkat Ali (Bangladesh)	Mr. Massoud Rezvanian Rahaghi (Islamic Republic of Iran)
Eastern European States	Mr. Aram Ter-Zakaryan (Armenia)	Ms. Ardiana Sokoli (Albania)
Western European and other States	Ms. Barbara Schäfer (Germany)	Ms. Aida Velasco Munguira (Spain)
Parties included in Annex I	Ms. Sylviane Bilgischer (Belgium)	Ms. Yuka Greiler (Switzerland)
Parties not included in Annex I	Mr. Charles Mutai (Kenya)	
Least developed countries	Mr. Chebet Maikut (Uganda)	Mr. Naresh Sharma (Nepal)

B. Third review of the Adaptation Fund

(Agenda sub-item 7(b))

- 48. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer this agenda sub-item to the SBI for its consideration.
- 49. At its 13th meeting, on a recommendation of the SBI,³² the CMP adopted decision 2/CMP.13, entitled "Third review of the Adaptation Fund".

³⁰ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/6.

³¹ As footnote 22 above.

³² FCCC/SBI/2017/19, paragraph 94.

VIII. Report on the high-level ministerial round table on increased ambition of Kyoto Protocol commitments

(Agenda item 8)

- 50. At the 3rd meeting, the President referred to the report³³ on the high-level ministerial round table on increased ambition of Kyoto Protocol commitments,³⁴ held on 5 June 2014.
- 51. The President underlined the need for the expedited entry into force of the Doha Amendment and emphasized the importance of ambitious emission reductions by Parties included in Annex I to the Convention with commitments in the second commitment period. The President proposed that Mr. Luke Daunivalu (Fiji) hold consultations on this issue and report back to the CMP on the outcome.
- 52. At the 11th meeting, the President thanked Mr. Daunivalu for his hard work and informed the CMP that there was still no consensus on this issue. On a proposal by the President, the CMP agreed, pursuant to rules 10(c) and 16 of the draft rules of procedure being applied, that this item would be included on the provisional agenda for CMP 14 (December 2018).

IX. Reporting from and review of Parties included in Annex I³⁵ (Agenda item 9)

A. National communications

(Agenda sub-item 9(a))

- 53. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer this agenda sub-item to the SBI for its consideration.
- 54. At its 11th meeting, the CMP noted the SBI conclusions³⁶ regarding the status of submission and review of second biennial reports from Parties included in Annex I to the Convention. The CMP also noted that the SBI would continue its consideration of the compilation and synthesis of second biennial reports at SBI 48 (April–May 2018).

B. Annual compilation and accounting report for the second commitment period for Annex B Parties under the Kyoto Protocol

(Agenda sub-item 9(b))

55. At the 3rd meeting, the President referred to the annual compilation and accounting report for Annex B Parties under the Kyoto Protocol for 2017.³⁷ The CMP took note of the information contained therein.

X. Capacity-building under the Kyoto Protocol

(Agenda item 10)

- 56. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer this agenda item to the SBI for its consideration.
- 57. At its 11th meeting, on a recommendation of the SBI,³⁸ the CMP adopted decision 4/CMP.13, entitled "Fourth review of the implementation of the framework for capacity-building in countries with economies in transition under the Kyoto Protocol".

³³ As requested in decision 1/CMP.8, paragraph 10.

³⁴ FCCC/KP/CMP/2014/3.

³⁵ The term "Party included in Annex I" is defined in Article 1, paragraph 7 of the Kyoto Protocol.

³⁶ FCCC/SBI/2017/19, paragraphs 16.

³⁷ FCCC/KP/CMP/2017/3 and Add.1.

³⁸ FCCC/SBI/2017/19, paragraphs 112–114.

XI. Matters relating to:

(Agenda item 11)

A. Article 2, paragraph 3, of the Kyoto Protocol

(Agenda sub-item 11(a))

B. Article 3, paragraph 14, of the Kyoto Protocol

(Agenda sub-item 11(b))

- 58. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer agenda sub-item 11(a) to the SBSTA and agenda sub-item 11(b) to the SBI for their consideration.
- 59. At its 12th meeting, the CMP noted that Parties did not reach specific conclusions on this matter and that the SBSTA and the SBI would continue consideration thereof at their next sessions (April–May 2018).

XII. Other matters referred to the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol by the subsidiary bodies

(Agenda item 12)

60. At its 12th meeting, the CMP noted that no matters had been raised under this agenda item.

XIII. Administrative, financial and institutional matters

(Agenda item 13)

A. Audit report and financial statements for 2016

(Agenda sub-item 13(a))

B. Budget performance for the biennium 2016–2017

(Agenda sub-item 13(b))

- 61. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer agenda sub-items 13(a) and (b) to the SBI for its consideration.
- 62. At its 12th meeting, on a recommendation of the SBI,³⁹ the CMP adopted decision 5/CMP.13, entitled "Administrative, financial and institutional matters".

C. Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019

(Agenda sub-item 13(c))

- 63. At its 1st meeting, the CMP decided to refer agenda sub-item 13(c) to the SBI for its consideration.
- 64. At its 12th meeting, on recommendations of the SBI,⁴⁰ the CMP adopted the following decisions:
- (a) Decision 6/CMP.13, entitled "Programme budget for the biennium 2018–2019";
- (b) Decision 7/CMP.13, entitled "Budget for the international transaction log and a methodology for the collection of its fees for the biennium 2018–2019".

³⁹ FCCC/SBI/2017/19, paragraphs 144–150.

⁴⁰ FCCC/SBI/2017/7/Add.1.

XIV. High-level segment

(Agenda item 14)41

XV. Other matters

(Agenda item 15)

65. At the 12th meeting, the CMP noted that no other matter had been raised by Parties under this agenda item.

XVI. Conclusion of the session

(Agenda item 16)

- 66. At the joint 15th meeting of the COP, 14th meeting of the CMP and 19th meeting of the CMA, representatives of groups of Parties and observer organizations made closing statements.⁴²
- 67. At the 15th meeting of the CMP, on 18 November, a representative of the secretariat informed the CMP that the decisions taken at CMP 13 had not resulted in any budgetary implications exceeding the core budget for 2018–2019.

A. Adoption of the draft report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol on its thirteenth session (Agenda sub-item 16(a))

68. At its 15th meeting, on 18 November, the CMP considered the draft report on its thirteenth session and, on a proposal by the President, authorized the Rapporteur to complete the report on the session under the guidance of the President and with the assistance of the secretariat.

B. Closure of the session

(Agenda sub-item 16(b))

- 69. At its 12th meeting, on a proposal by the President, the CMP adopted resolution 1/CMP.13, entitled "Expression of gratitude to the Government of the Federal Republic of Germany and the people of the city of Bonn".
- 70. At its 15th meeting, the President declared CMP 13 closed.

⁴¹ See document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraphs 154–159.

⁴² See document FCCC/CP/2017/11, paragraphs 163–165.

Annex

Parties to the Kyoto Protocol, Parties to the Convention that are observers to the Kyoto Protocol and observer States attending the thirteenth session of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol

[English only]

A. Parties to the Kyoto Protocol

Afghanistan Congo Haiti Cook Islands Albania Honduras Costa Rica Algeria Hungary Côte d'Ivoire Iceland Angola Antigua and Barbuda Croatia India Cuba Argentina Indonesia

Armenia Cyprus Iran (Islamic Republic of)

Australia Czechia Iraq Austria Democratic People's Ireland Republic of Korea Israel Azerbaijan Democratic Republic of Bahamas Italy the Congo Bahrain Jamaica Denmark Bangladesh Japan Djibouti Barbados Jordan Dominica Belarus Kazakhstan Dominican Republic Belgium Kenya Ecuador Belize Kiribati Egypt Benin Kuwait El Salvador Bhutan Kyrgyzstan **Equatorial Guinea**

Bolivia (Plurinational

State of)

Estonia

Lao People's Democratic

Popublic

Republic State of) Ethiopia Bosnia and Herzegovina Latvia European Union Botswana Lebanon Fiji Brazil Lesotho Finland Brunei Darussalam Liberia France Bulgaria Libva Gabon Burkina Faso Liechtenstein Gambia Burundi Lithuania Georgia Cabo Verde Luxembourg Germany Madagascar

Cambodia Ghana Cameroon Malawi Greece Central African Republic Malaysia Grenada Chad Maldives Guatemala Chile Mali Guinea China Malta Guinea-Bissau

Colombia Guinea-Bissau Marshall Islands Comoros Guyana Mauritania Mauritius Portugal Sweden
Mexico Qatar Switzerland

Micronesia (Federated Republic of Korea Syrian Arab Republic

States of) Republic of Moldova Tajikistan Monaco Romania Thailand

Mongolia Russian Federation The former Yugoslav Montenegro Rwanda Republic of Macedonia

Morocco Saint Kitts and Nevis Timor-Leste

MozambiqueSaint LuciaTogoMyanmarSaint Vincent and the
GrenadinesTongaNamibiaGrenadinesTunisiaNauruSamoaTurkey

NepalSao Tome and PrincipeTurkmenistanNetherlandsSaudi ArabiaTuvaluNew ZealandSenegalUgandaNicaraguaSerbiaUkraine

NigerSeychellesUnited Arab EmiratesNigeriaSierra LeoneUnited Kingdom of GreatNiueSingaporeBritain and Northern IrelandNorwaySlovakiaUnited Republic of Tanzania

Oman Slovenia Uruguay Pakistan Solomon Islands Uzbekistan Palau Somalia Vanuatu

Panama South Africa Venezuela (Bolivarian

Papua New Guinea Spain Viet Nam
Paraguay Sri Lanka Yemen
Peru Sudan Zambia
Philippines Suriname Zimbabwe

Poland Swaziland

B. Parties to the Convention that are observers to the Kyoto Protocol

Andorra

Canada

South Sudan

State of Palestine

United States of America

C. Observer States

Holy See